JOINT TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH PROGRAM

INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND PURDUE UNIVERSITY



Relating Design Storm Events to Ordinary High Water Marks in Indiana



Siddharth Saksena, Venkatesh Merwade

SPR-3716 • Report Number: FHWA/IN/JTRP-2015/19 • DOI: 10.5703/1288284316004

RECOMMENDED CITATION

Saksena, S., & Merwade, V. (2015). *Relating design storm events to ordinary high water marks in Indiana* (Joint Transportation Research Program Publication No. FHWA/IN/JTRP-2015/19). West Lafayette, IN: Purdue University. http://dx.doi. org/10.5703/1288284316004

AUTHORS

Siddharth Saksena

Graduate Research Assistant Lyles School of Civil Engineering Purdue University

Venkatesh Merwade, PhD

Associate Professor of Civil Engineering Lyles School of Civil Engineering Purdue University (765) 494-2176 vmerwade@purdue.edu *Corresponding Author*

JOINT TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH PROGRAM

The Joint Transportation Research Program serves as a vehicle for INDOT collaboration with higher education institutions and industry in Indiana to facilitate innovation that results in continuous improvement in the planning, design, construction, operation, management and economic efficiency of the Indiana transportation infrastructure. https://engineering.purdue.edu/JTRP/index_html

Published reports of the Joint Transportation Research Program are available at: http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/jtrp/

NOTICE

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views and policies of the Indiana Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration. The report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

COPYRIGHT

Copyright 2015 by Purdue University. All rights reserved. Print ISBN: 978-1-62260-370-1 ePUB ISBN: 978-1-62260-371-8

		TECHNICAL REPORT STANDARD TITLE PAGE		
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.		
FHWA/IN/JTRP-2015/19				
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date		
Relating Design Storm Events to Ordinary H	August 2015			
	6. Performing Organization Code			
7. Author(s)	8. Performing Organization Report No.			
Siddharth Saksena and Venkatesh Merwad	e	FHWA/IN/JTRP-2015/19		
9. Performing Organization Name and Ad	dress	10. Work Unit No.		
Joint Transportation Research Program Purdue University				
550 Stadium Mall Drive				
West Lafayette, IN 47907-2051		11. Contract or Grant No. SPR-3716		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addres	S	13. Type of Report and Period Covered		
Indiana Department of Transportation		Final Report		
State Office Building				
Indianapolis, IN 46204		14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
15. Supplementary Notes Prepared in cooperation with the Indiana D	epartment of Transportation and Federa	l Highway Administration.		
16. Abstract				
Hydraulic design and environmental permithe active river channel. The United States States" as well as for flood and draught midentify physical characteristics like scorcharacteristics are site specific so there a morphology, slope, fluvial patterns and size that is based on storm recurrence intervals analyzing hydraulic and hydrologic parame 200 square miles) in Indiana. The results of bank-full discharge intervals of 1.5-2 yead discharge. Further analysis using the disch fairly distributed range (0.73-1.12 years) at that five hydrologic/hydraulic variables hav flow being the most significant. Regional discharges based on hydrologic/hydraulic provide the stimate OHWM occurrence of the stimate OHWM occur	itting are heavily dependent upon Ordina s Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) use anagement. Current methods to determ uring, deposition around the banks, a are fluctuations in measurements based e of the channel. A more reliable way to e s. Hydrologic and hydraulic modeling is us eters corresponding to design streamflow show that the recurrence intervals of OH rs which suggests that OHWM corresp harge-return period flow duration curves and do not have a fixed recurrence interval (e a significant trend with OHWM dischar equations are developed for Northern, barameter estimation using multiple and discharges fairly accurately.	ary High Water Marks (OHWM) because they define OHWM for regulation of the "Waters of the United ine OHWM are based on detailed on-site surveys to absence of vegetation and water staining. These d on the water body, weather conditions, channel estimate this variable for hydraulic design is required sed to relate OHWM to storm recurrence intervals by w events for 26 watersheds (drainage area less than WM are actually smaller (less than 1 year) than the ond to channel flows much smaller than bank-full shows that the OHWM recurrence intervals have a al. Trend analysis using Mann-Kendall test suggested rges with drainage area, watershed slope and 2-year Central and Southern Indiana to estimate OHWM step-wise liner regression. Using these equations, it		

17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statement				
ordinary high water mark, regional regression, watershed delineation, design storms, recurrence intervals		No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161.				
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif.	(of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price		
Unclassified	Unclassified	d	14			

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

RELATING DESIGN STORM EVENTS TO ORDINARY HIGH WATER MARKS IN INDIANA

Introduction

Ordinary high water marks (OHWM) determine the lateral limits of federal jurisdiction over non-tidal waters in the absence of adjacent wetlands in the United States. Even though accurate estimation of OHWM has significant legal and economic implications, they are dependent on physical features of streams without any hydrologic definition. OHWM significantly impact hydraulic design and environmental permitting. For sites without an established OHWM, hydraulic structures are designed conservatively with higher construction costs. This conservative design is often carried out to reduce future maintenance costs, increase safety and reduce property owner complaints. Typically, bridges across a stream are most affected by the non-existence of precisely identified OHWM values. Having an objective way of identifying OHWM is desirable for increasing construction precision and economic sustainability of these structures. This project aims to relate OHWM with storm return periods to reduce the subjective nature of OHWM estimates. Accordingly, this project has the following objectives: (1) to establish and quantify the relationship between OHWM discharge and return periods for ungauged streams in Indiana; and (2) to relate OHWM discharges to the 100-year design discharges for Northern, Central and Southern Indiana.

Findings

- OHWM correspond to return periods of less than 2-years' duration.
- The average return period corresponding to OHWM from this study has a range between 0.73 and 1.12 years. This result suggests that the OHWM does not necessarily correspond to the bank-full depth with a return period of 1.5–2 years.
- OHWM discharges computed as a percentage of 100-year flows range from 2.5% to 5.7% for Indiana. However, on computing the 2-year flows as a percentage of 100-year flows for Indiana, the range is found to be from 20.7% to 23.8%. This range proves the hypothesis that 2-year flows are not accurate predictors of OHWM, and the current INDOT policy needs to incorporate a different range in estimating OHWM.
- For Indiana, it is found that ratio of OHWM discharge and 100-year discharge has an average value of 4.99% for the northern part, 3.60% for the central part, and 5.49% for the southern part.

Implementation

The findings and recommendations from this study are expected to be incorporated in the next update of the Indiana Design Manual. The revised policies will be used by the hydraulics division at INDOT for design projects and Federal Aid local projects.

CONTENTS

1. 1	INTRODUCTION	. 1
2. 3	SITE SELECTION AND DATA COMPILATION.	. 1
3. 3	METHODOLOGY	. 3
2	3.1 Data Preprocessing and Hydrologic Modeling	. 3
2	3.2 Hydraulic Modeling	. 3
2	3.3 Relating Observed OHWM to Hydraulic Model Outputs	. 3
2	3.4 Relating OHWM Discharge to 100-Year Discharge	. 4
4. 1	RESULTS	. 4
4	4.1 Hydrologic Modeling Results	. 4
4	4.2 Relationship between OHWM and Hydrologic/Hydraulic Outputs	. 4
4	4.3 Range of OHWM Discharges	. 6
5. 8	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	. 8
6. 3	IMPLEMENTATION AND POTENTIAL SAVINGS	. 8
RE	EFERENCES	. 8

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 2.1 Description of the sites chosen for this study	3
Table 4.1 HEC-HMS model calibration results for Indiana	4
Table 4.2 HEC-RAS outputs for 2-year discharge and OHWM geometry data for Indiana	7
Table 4.3 OHWM discharge data analysis and return periods	7
Table 4.4 OHWM and 2-year discharges as a percentage of 100-year discharges for Indiana	8

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure 2.1 Watershed extents for identified streams in Indiana	2
Figure 4.1 Peak streamflow versus return period using HEC-HMS for Northern Indiana and Southern Indiana	5
Figure 4.2 Peak streamflow versus return period using HEC-HMS for Central Indiana (lower peak discharge rates) and Central Indiana (higher peak discharge rates)	6

1. INTRODUCTION

According to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (33 CFR Part 328.3) and the Indiana Department of Transportation's (INDOT) Indiana Design Manual, an ordinary high water mark (OHWM) is defined as "a line on the shore of a water body established by the fluctuations of water and indicated by physical characteristics such as clear, natural lines impressed on the bank, shelving, changes in the character of soil, natural destruction of terrestrial vegetation, the presence of litter and debris, or other appropriate means that consider the characteristics of the surrounding areas" (INDOT, 2013; Riley, 2005; U.S. Congress, 1986). One of the most important applications of OHWM is identifying the lateral limits of federal jurisdiction over non-tidal waters in the absence of adjacent wetlands for government organizations such as United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and Environmental Protection Agency (USACE, 2001). They also define the regulatory boundaries between interstate waters, state-owned and public-owned properties (U.S. Congress, 1986). Thus, even though accurate estimation of OHWM has significant legal and economic implications, they are dependent on physical features of streams without any hydrologic definition. The current estimation techniques for OHWM rely on manual inspection using onsite signs like the presence of terrestrial versus aquatic vegetation, physical signs of scouring and soil erosion (Lichvar & Wakeley, 2004; Mersel, Lefebvre, & Lichvar, 2014; USACE, 2012a).

There are some common assumptions regarding the existence of OHWM such as (1) OHWM correspond to return periods of 1.5–2 years; (2) OHWM occur at bankfull discharges; (3) OHWM occur at the end of the vegetation scour line; and (iv) OHWM occur at the transition from riparian to upland vegetation (Lefebvre, Lichvar, & Curtis, 2013; Lichvar & McColley, 2008; Mersel, 2013a).

The issue with determination of OHWM at the end of vegetation scour line or at the transition from riparian to upland vegetation is that vegetation can vary temporally as well as spatially and the transition from riparian to upland vegetation is gradual and often hard to determine (Liu, Xia, Kuhn, Wright, & Arnold, 2013; Mersel, Lefebvre, et al., 2014; Mersel, 2013a). These field indicators are inconsistent across different regions, and thus it is essential to identify a generalized classification system applicable across all ungauged streams (Mersel, 2013b). OWHM field indicators such as climate, vegetation, soil characteristics and geology significantly impact OHWM distribution in streams (Curtis & Lichvar, 2010; Lichvar, Finnegan, Ericsson, & Ochs, 2006; Olson & Stockdale, 2010).

Studies in the past have tried to relate OHWM to bank-full discharges based on the assumption that bankfull discharges define the active channel and the physical indicators of bank-full discharge in natural channels are similar to OHWM indicators (Young, McEnroe, Gamarra, Luo, & Lurtz, 2014). Bank-full discharge of rivers occurs when the water surface elevation corresponding to the discharge is at the top of the banks and causes a change in the relationship between crosssectional area and top width (Williams, 1978). Even though bank-full discharges are significant to floodestimation and planning, these do not define the active channel discharge that occurs during most of the year (USACE, 2012a). Studies have also related bank-full discharge to return periods of 1.5-2 years, and hence the assumption that OHWM discharges should also correspond to return periods of 1.5-2 years is considered reasonable (Castro & Jackson, 2002; Young et al., 2014). Some studies have suggested that bank-full discharge are greater than OHWM for steeper channels with large sediment size while OHWM are greater for reaches with multiple side channels and mild slopes (Olson & Stockdale, 2010).

OHWM significantly impact hydraulic design and environmental permitting since they define the active channel (IDEM, 2008). A higher OHWM suggests a larger channel width and higher water surface elevation, and these can lead to the design of a larger hydraulic structure. For sites without an established OHWM, hydraulic structures are designed conservatively with higher construction costs (ODOT, 2007; USACE, 2012c). This conservative design is often carried out to reduce future maintenance costs, increase safety and reduce property owner complaints (ODOT, 2007; USACE, 2012b, 2012d). Typically, bridges across a stream are most affected by the non-existence of precisely identified OHWM values. Improper assessment of OHWM can cause excessive damages to both public and private properties during extreme flood events and can also cause significant scouring near the bridge piers and abutments (INDOT, 2009; Lee, 2010). It is clear that the current approach to determining OHWM is based on certain assumptions and visual interpretation of physical signs that have slightly different meaning for different individuals. As a result, the OHWM estimates are highly subjective, and can be sometime erroneous. The overall goal of this project is to establish a more concrete criterion for OHWM determination for Indiana watersheds by relating it to some watershed characteristics. Accordingly, specific objectives include (1) to establish and quantify the relationship between OHWM discharge and return periods for ungauged streams in Indiana; and (2) to relate OHWM discharges to the 100-year design discharges for Northern, Central and Southern Indiana.

2. SITE SELECTION AND DATA COMPILATION

In order to obtain a representative sample of all the sites in Indiana, 26 sites based on distinct topography and land use characteristics are chosen for this study. Using physiographical homogeneity for Indiana, three main regions are used for selecting watersheds: (1) Northern Moraine and Lake region; (2) Central Till Plain; and (3) Southern Hills and Lowland region (Robinson, 2013). Accordingly, 6 sites from Northern (Region 1), 13 sites from Central (Region 2) and 7 sites from Southern

(Region 3) are chosen for analysis as shown in Figure 2.1 and Table 2.1. The streams are chosen on the basis of availability of reliable observed OHWM data and watershed area for each region to obtain average discharge conditions throughout the year. Most of the smaller streams in Indiana are not perennial, and only carry discharge during storm events. The larger streams, on the other hand, have a predetermined OHWM which is fairly stable. Considering these factors, and the availability of observed OHWM for analysis, mid-sized streams with drainage areas ranging from a few square miles to about 150 square miles are selected.

This study required hydrologic and hydraulic modeling for the 26 sites in order to relate hydraulic outputs to OHWM. For hydrologic modeling, Digital Elevation Model (DEM), land use and soil data are compiled for each site. The 30 m resolution DEM is compiled for Indiana using the National Elevation Dataset (NED) provided by the United States Geological Survey (Gesch, 2007). The land use data for these sites is obtained from the National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD: http:// nationalmap.gov/viewer.html) while the soil data is obtained using the Natural Resources Conservation Service's (NRCS) Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO). Impervious cover data in the form of raster grid is downloaded from the Indiana Map Data Server (USGS, 2006). In addition, frequency storms of different rainfall durations are also compiled for each study site using the National Weather Service's (NWS) Precipitation Frequency Data Server (PFDS) which uses the partial duration series method for evaluating rainfall depth for different return periods (Bonnin et al., 2006). The design 100-year discharge values for all the sites and related OHWM widths and depths are also obtained from INDOT for model calibration.



Figure 2.1 Watershed extents for identified streams in Indiana.

TABLE 2.1						
Description of	of the	sites	chosen	for	this	study.

Location	Name	Drainage Area (mi ²)	Location	Name	Drainage Area (mi ²)
Central	Humphreys Branch	0.97	North	Twelve Mile Creek	2.3
Central	Sillimans Creek	1.44	North	Brown Ditch	3.14
Central	Long Run Creek	2.62	North	Yellow River	27.28
Central	Little Mud Creek	3.64	North	Paw Paw Creek	32.3
Central	Back Creek	5.67	North	Fish Creek	41.4
Central	Bill Creek	6.97	North	Baugo Creek	78.75
Central	Fall Creek	7.93	South	Mill Creek	1.28
Central	Lick Creek	15.92	South	Little Laughery Creek	1.56
Central	Ramp Run Creek	23.58	South	Ramsey Creek	1.96
Central	Prairie Creek	27.78	South	Hutto Creek	6.00
Central	Deer Creek	35.42	South	Camp Creek	6.88
Central	Southfork Wildcat Creek	71.31	South	Little Sand Creek	16.14
Central	Wildcat Creek	165.0	South	Stucker Creek	27.27

3. METHODOLOGY

In order to accomplish the objective listed in the Introduction section, the methodology involves the following steps for all study sites: (1) data preprocessing and hydrologic modeling for obtaining peak streamflows; (2) 1D hydraulic modeling using peak streamflows for obtaining water surface elevations and top widths; (3) relating hydraulic model outputs to observed OHWM data; (4) establishing discharges corresponding to OHWM values; and (5) relating OHWM discharge values to 100year discharge at the study sites.

3.1 Data Preprocessing and Hydrologic Modeling

Hydrologic modeling for all sites is conducted by using Hydrologic Engineering Center's Hydrology Modeling System (HEC-HMS; Feldman, 2000). HEC-HMS modeling for each site involved: (1) calibrating the model for 100-year discharge; (2) running the calibrated model for various design storm events to produce corresponding hydrographs; and (3) compilation of results for use in a hydraulic model. These steps require the identification of a loss method and a hydrograph transform method. The SCS Curve Number method was used as the loss method while the SCS Unit Hydrograph was used as the transform method.

Rainfall inputs for hydrologic modeling are obtained in the form of 24-hour duration frequency hyetographs using precipitation values corresponding to return periods of 2, 5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 years for all the sites. The drainage outlet for each watershed is set at the upstream cross-section station of the bridge at which the OHWM dimensions (width and depth) are measured. Each hydrologic model is calibrated for a 100-year design discharge which is provided by INDOT using the SCS Curve Number method that uses initial abstraction, curve number, lag-time and impervious cover percentage as model parameters for estimation of runoff. The curve number grid and lag-times for Indiana streams are extracted using the NED 30 m DEM, NLCD land use map for Indiana and SSURGO soil geodatabase in ArcGIS using the HEC-GeoHMS tool (Fleming & Doan, 2009). The initial abstraction for all the sites is set equal to 0.2 times the soil moisture retention potential.

Calibration is carried out by varying the lag-time for each sub-watershed in the basin and estimating the peak streamflow to match the 100-year design discharge for all the sites. The calibrated HEC-HMS model is run to produce peak streamflow values for 2, 5, 10, 25 and 50 year frequency storms.

3.2 Hydraulic Modeling

Hydraulic modeling is conducted for all study reaches to produce water surface extents and elevations corresponding to the hydrographs produced from HEC-HMS. Hydrologic Engineering Center's River Analysis System (HEC-RAS; Bruner, 2010) is used for hydraulic modeling with a steady state assumption by using peak streamflow values obtained from HEC-HMS as input discharge. Since the HEC-RAS models for all the reaches in the study were previously calibrated by INDOT for flood modeling purposes, the geometric data comprising of cross-sections, boundary conditions Manning's n values and bridge data are used without modifications. After running HEC-RAS simulations, the water surface extents and elevations upstream of the bridges are used to evaluate the widths and depths of flow corresponding to the different return periods.

3.3 Relating Observed OHWM to Hydraulic Model Outputs

The OHWM dimensions are measured at the upstream sections at the bridges located within the channel reach for all the sites. Outputs from HEC-RAS models for various storm events at the upstream cross-section station of the bridges are compared with available OHWM to relate the water levels to specific design storm events. In order to relate OHWM to return periods, the calibrated HEC-RAS models are used to obtain discharge values corresponding to OHWM depths and top widths using the method of trial and error. This method involves running the HEC-RAS models for different streamflow values and obtaining discharge-stage and discharge-width relationships at the bridge cross-sections where the OHWM measurements are made. These relationships are used to obtain the discharge values corresponding to OHWM width and depth for all the sites.

3.4 Relating OHWM Discharge to 100-Year Discharge

In order to get OHWM discharge for any site, regional ratios between OHWM and 100-year discharges are computed. These ratios are used to obtain the mean, standard deviation and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of % 100-year discharges for Northern, Central and Southern Indiana.

4. RESULTS

The results are presented in three parts: (1) hydrologic modeling results; (2) relationship of OHWM return periods with hydrologic/hydraulic modeling results; and (3) ratio of OHWM discharges with respect to 100-year discharges.

4.1 Hydrologic Modeling Results

Table 4.1 shows the HEC-HMS model calibration results using 100-year design discharge for all the sites.

TABLE 4.1

HEC-HMS model calibration results for Indiana.

Figure 4.1 presents the peak streamflow values obtained from HEC-HMS using design storm events for different return periods for Northern and Southern Indiana on a semi-log axis. Results for Central Indiana are divided in two parts to clearly identify the sites with smaller and higher peak discharge rates as shown in Figure 4.2. The flood frequency curves for study areas in Southern Indiana have greater slope with respect to the return period.

4.2 Relationship between OHWM and Hydrologic/ Hydraulic Outputs

Outputs from HEC-RAS models for various storm events at the upstream cross-section station at the bridges are compared with observed OHWM to relate the water levels to specific design storm events. Table 4.2 presents the HEC-RAS modeling results for a 2-year discharge and comparison with observed OHWM values for all the sites in increasing order of drainage area. The width of the 2-year discharge at the bridge cross-section is obtained by looking up HEC-RAS top width while the 2-year depth is calculated as the difference between the water surface elevation at the cross-section and the minimum channel elevation.

After obtaining the discharges corresponding to OHWM values, the results for all sites are compared with 2-year discharges. Using the flood-frequency curves, plot between peak streamflow and return periods, for all sites, rainfall return periods corresponding to OHWM

Location	Namo	Drainaga Aroa (mi ²)	Calibrated Peak	Volumo (inchos)	100 vr Discharge (ofs)
	Name	Dramage Area (iiii)	Discharge (CIS)	volume (menes)	100-yr Discharge (cis)
Central	Humphreys Branch	1.0	390.6	4.64	391
South	Mill Creek	1.3	1161.1	4.01	1160
Central	Sillimans Creek	1.4	641.1	2.95	641
South	Little Laughery Creek	1.6	1500.9	4.26	1500
South	Ramsey Creek	2.0	999.6	4.46	1000
North	Branch-Twelve Mile	2.3	923.6	4.26	925
Central	Long Run Creek	2.6	1700.1	4.57	1700
North	Brown Ditch	3.1	629.2	4.49	630
Central	Little Mud Creek	3.6	1100.5	3.35	1100
Central	Back Creek	5.7	1231.5	2.52	1230
South	Hutto Creek	6.0	2599.0	4.37	2600
South	Camp Creek	6.9	2996.9	4.39	3000
Central	Bill Creek	7.0	661.1	2.22	660
Central	Fall Creek	7.9	2601.0	3.23	2600
Central	Lick Creek	15.9	6800.7	4.69	6800
South	Little Sand Creek	16.1	5111.3	4.44	5110
Central	Ramp Run Creek	23.6	6256.4	4.04	6260
South	Stucker Creek	27.3	7830.8	3.93	7830
North	Yellow River	27.3	1200.8	3.34	1200
Central	Prairie Creek	27.8	3301.5	4.64	3300
North	Paw Paw Creek	32.3	3602.9	3.92	3600
Central	Deer Creek	35.4	3700.0	3.99	3700
North	Fish Creek	41.4	1973.1	3.77	1975
Central	South Fork Wildcat Creek	71.3	9621.6	3.94	9620
North	Baugo Creek	78.8	3855.5	3.74	3860
Central	Wildcat Creek	165.0	9199.0	1.17	9200



Figure 4.1 Peak streamflow versus return period using HEC-HMS for Northern Indiana (top) and Southern Indiana (bottom).

are estimated. The results suggest that OHWM correspond to return periods less than 2 years for 25 out of the 26 sites. In fact, the OHWM for 22 out of 26 sites have return periods less than or equal to 1 year. The average return period corresponding to OHWM is 0.92 years with a range between 0.73 and 1.12 years. This value suggests that the common assumption that OHWM correspond to bank-full dimensions with return periods of about 1.5-2 years does not hold ground for Indiana. Based on the results, the return period corresponding to OHWM is much smaller. Therefore, OHWM discharges should be modeled separately from bank-full discharges and even though there are similarities in the physical characteristics of bank-full and OHWM indicators, the active channel discharge is significantly lower than the bank-full discharge.

Table 4.3 provides detailed results for OHWM discharges and corresponding return periods in increasing order of return periods. It also presents a comparison between 2-year discharge, 100-year discharge and OHWM discharge for all the sites.

The results indicate a site-specific dependence of OHWM values, thus suggesting that OHWM are not related to any specific return period. However, these results can be applied to a variety of watersheds since OHWM correspond to return periods closer to 1 year for different drainage areas and different regions in Indiana. Even for sites with smaller drainage areas, the 2-year discharge values for Southern Indiana are higher than Northern and Central Indiana. This can be substantiated by the higher 2-year discharge to drainage area ratios for the sites in Southern Indiana when compared to Northern and Central Indiana. A possible explanation for this departure is the existence of steeper channel slopes for the sites in Southern Indiana which also explains why the OHWM values for Mill Creek and Stucker Creek are significantly higher than other watersheds with similar drainage area. Even though Humphreys Branch watershed is located



Figure 4.2 Peak streamflow versus return period using HEC-HMS for Central Indiana (top; lower peak discharge rates) and Central Indiana (bottom; higher peak discharge rates).

in Central Indiana, it is situated in Western Indiana which is a region with steeper slopes and therefore has a higher OHWM discharge. The dependence of OHWM return periods on average slope of the watersheds is clearly noticeable from the results.

For the sites with mild slopes, the OHWM correspond to return periods of less than 1-year. Southern Indiana is also characterized by a higher percentage of forest cover in comparison to Northern Indiana that has significant agricultural land use, and Central Indiana that has a higher percentage of urban land cover. This suggests that the slope of the watershed and vegetation characteristics of the watersheds play an important role in establishing the OHWM at these sites (Mersel, Lichvar, Gillrich, & Lefebvre, 2014). Even though the average slope of the watershed is a significant parameter in explaining the outliers, statistical analysis suggests that the slopes of the northern and central region are not significantly different from each other (Wilkerson & Merwade, 2010).

4.3 Range of OHWM Discharges

After obtaining a range of storm return periods, OWHM discharges are compared with 100-year discharge values for Northern, Central and Southern Indiana. Table 4.4 presents the statistical parameters of OHWM discharges and 2-year discharges as a percentage of 100-year discharge. This computation is carried out for 25 out of 26 sites after excluding Humphreys Branch results as this site is an outlier.

Table 4.4 shows that OHWM discharges computed as a percentage of 100-year discharges range from 2.5% to 5.7% for Indiana. However, on computing the 2-year discharges as a percentage of 100-year discharges for Indiana, the range is found to be from 20.7% to 23.8%. This range proves the hypothesis that 2-year discharges are not accurate predictors of OHWM and the current INDOT policy needs to incorporate a different range in estimating OHWM. This analysis also suggests that using the upper 95% CI value of OHWM discharge as a

TABLE 4.2					
HEC-RAS outputs for 2-yea	r discharge and	OHWM g	geometry data	for	Indiana.

Location	Name	Drainage Area (mi ²)	2-year Depth (feet)	2-year Width (feet)	OHWM Depth (feet)	OHWM Width (feet)
Central	Humphreys Branch	1.0	2.2	16.5	2.5	18.0
South	Mill Creek	1.3	3.8	29.2	2.5	22.0
Central	Sillimans Creek	1.4	1.5	22.1	1.0	15.0
South	Little Laughery Creek	1.6	5.6	83.1	1.0	14.0
South	Ramsey Creek	2.0	3.5	71.2	1.0	10.0
North	Twelve Mile Creek	2.3	4.1	50.0	0.5	10.0
Central	Long Run Creek	2.6	5.1	41.4	1.3	20.0
North	Brown Ditch	3.1	4.5	37.2	3.0	32.0
Central	Little Mud Creek	3.6	4.3	36.9	1.3	22.0
Central	Back Creek	5.7	4.3	33.7	1.0	20.0
South	Hutto Creek	6.0	9.3	214.2	3.0	20.0
South	Camp Creek	6.9	4.4	74.2	0.9	12.0
Central	Bill Creek	7.0	4.6	22.2	3.1	13.0
Central	Fall Creek	7.9	5.6	247.0	3.0	20.0
Central	Lick Creek	15.9	9.7	100.9	1.1	30.0
South	Little Sand Creek	16.1	6.8	56.0	5.5	40.0
Central	Ramp Run Creek	23.6	6.9	83.1	2.5	32.0
South	Yellow River	27.3	3.8	29.6	3.0	22.0
North	Stucker Creek	27.3	5.4	62.7	5.0	48.0
Central	Prairie Creek	27.8	7.5	310.9	3.0	39.0
North	Paw Paw Creek	32.3	8.2	76.0	2.5	30.0
Central	Deer Creek	35.4	5.7	254.1	5.0	48.0
North	Fish Creek	41.4	3.9	47.0	2.0	34.4
Central	South Fork Wildcat Creek	71.3	9.5	451.0	2.8	61.0
North	Baugo Creek	78.8	6.3	85.7	3.0	50.5
Central	Wildcat Creek	165.0	8.8	204.0	4.5	108.0

TABLE 4.3OHWM discharge data analysis and return periods*.

Name	Drainage Area (mi ²)	2-year Discharge (cfs)	100-year Discharge (cfs)	OHWM Discharge (cfs)	% 100-year	Return Period (years)
Lick Creek	15.92	2022	6800	30	0.44	0.29
Little Laughery Creek	1.56	454	1500	27	1.80	0.41
Long Run Creek	2.62	476	1700	48	2.82	0.49
Twelve Mile Creek	2.30	235	925	8	0.86	0.53
Little Mud Creek	3.64	267	1100	19	1.73	0.62
Prairie Creek	27.78	798	3300	120	3.64	0.68
Paw Paw Creek	32.30	800	3600	55	1.53	0.69
Southfork Wildcat Creek	71.31	2102	9620	130	1.35	0.70
Ramp Run Creek	23.58	1315	6260	80	1.28	0.73
Camp Creek	6.88	601	3000	20	0.67	0.75
Back Creek	5.67	292	1230	25	2.03	0.75
Wildcat Creek	165.00	2099	9200	430	4.67	0.78
Hutto Creek	6.00	506	2600	30	1.15	0.80
Ramsey Creek	1.96	200	1000	10	1.00	0.80
Fall Creek	7.93	515	2600	52	2.00	0.82
Baugo Creek	78.75	859	3860	160	4.15	0.85
Deer Creek	35.42	935	3700	350	9.46	0.86
Fish Creek	41.40	469	1975	180	9.11	0.92
Sillimans Creek	1.44	122	641	20	3.12	0.93
Bill Creek	6.97	157	660	70	10.61	1.01
Little Sand Creek	16.14	985	5110	300	5.87	1.03
Yellow River	27.28	238	1200	80	6.67	1.04
Brown Ditch	3.14	98	630	48	7.62	1.41
Mill Creek	1.28	203	1160	150	12.93	1.63
Stucker Creek	27.27	1345	7830	1175	15.01	1.86
Humphreys Branch	0.97	93	391	110	28.13	2.63

*The 2-year discharge value corresponds to the initial reference value for OHWM that was used by INDOT prior to this study. The %100-year column represents OHWM values as a percentage of 100-year discharges.

TABLE 4.4					
OHWM and 2-year	discharges as a	percentage of	100-year	discharges for	r Indiana*.

Location	Mean	Standard Deviation	Lower 95% CI	Upper 95% CI
		OHWM Discharge Presented as	%100-Year Discharge	
Statewide	4.11	3.82	2.53	5.69
Northern	4.99	3.36	1.46	8.52
Central	3.60	3.22	1.55	5.64
Southern	5.49	6.08	1.00	11.11
		2-year Discharge Presented as 9	6100-Year Discharge	
Statewide	22.26	3.71	20.73	23.79
Northern	21.51	3.42	17.93	25.10
Central	23.63	3.12	21.64	25.61
Southern	20.55	4.44	16.44	24.65

*All values represent %100-year discharges. The confidence intervals are calculated using a t-distribution.

percentage of 100-year discharge seems to be a conservative and reasonable estimate in determining the OHWM discharge. This upper 95% CI value can be used in hydraulic models to obtain width and elevation corresponding to OHWM which can be used as a reference for channel clearing purposes.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Using the results obtained in Table 4.4, it is possible to obtain an estimate of OHWM discharge corresponding to a specific region with a significance level of α =0.05. Following are the conclusions from this study:

- 1. OHWM depend on a variety of hydraulic and hydrologic parameters which include drainage area, 2-year discharge, average watershed slope and flood frequency estimates.
- 2. OHWM correspond to return periods of less than 2-year duration. This suggests that the reference value that was used by INDOT prior to this study needs to be modified.
- 3. In Indiana, average bank-full discharges correspond to return periods between 1.5 and 2 years. The average return period corresponding to OHWM from this study has a range between 0.73 and 1.12 years. This value suggests that the hypothesis that OHWM correspond to bank-full discharges is not true and is in fact much smaller than the previous assumption for Indiana.
- 4. The results based on comparison of OHWM discharge with 2-year discharges as a percentage of 100-year discharges clearly show that the mean OHWM discharge is about 4.1% while the mean 2-year discharge is about 22.6%. Even the upper limit of OHWM confidence interval is significantly less than 2-year discharges. This upper 95% CI value can be used determine maximum possible OHWM width and elevation for any site in Indiana.

The range of OHWM discharges developed in this study can be used as a guide for OHWM determination for ungauged sites that do not have physical indicators for OHWM. Prolonged floods or draught can also impact the location of OHWM which can reduce the accuracy of results since they do not account for change in discharge conditions over a long period of time. It should also be noted that the range of OHWM discharges developed in this study are based on the analysis of 26 watersheds in Indiana and increasing the number of sites in future studies can decrease the uncertainty associated with OHWM.

6. IMPLEMENTATION AND POTENTIAL SAVINGS

The findings and recommendations from this study are expected to be incorporated in the next update of the Indiana Design Manual. The revised policies will be used by the hydraulics division at INDOT for design projects and Federal Aid local projects. One of the primary uses of this study is to provide assistance in sizing bridge-waterway openings that rely heavily upon the estimation of OHWM. Based on previous projects, lowering the OHWM elevation by one foot reduces the bridge size by 650 square feet. Assuming an average bridge construction cost of \$120 per square foot, this has the potential to reduce structure costs by \$78,000. The cost savings will be greater for structures with higher profile grades, since the length of the structure is also affected by the rise of the structure. In addition to construction cost savings, an accurate estimation of OHWM can help reduce future maintenance costs by avoiding channel meandering, scouring and bridge or abutment repair. The existing INDOT channel clearing policy depends on estimation of OHWM based on 2-year discharge values and the results in this study suggest that modification is required. The regional OHWM ratios based on 100-year discharges developed in this study will be used to estimate OHWM discharges in existing hydraulic models. These hydraulic models will be further used to determine a range of OHWM widths and elevations. After estimating the OHWM attributes using the regional ratios obtained from this study, a comparison between existing OHWM attributes will be carried out and the changes will be adapted in future channel clearing policies.

REFERENCES

Bonnin, G. M., Martin, D., Lin, B., Parzybok, T., Yekta, M., & Riley, D. (2006). *Precipitation-frequency atlas of the*

United States (NOAA Atlas 14, Vol. 2, Version 3.0). Silver Spring, MD: NOAA.

- Bruner, G. W. (2010). HEC-RAS River analysis system: Hydraulic reference manual, Version 4.1 (Report No. CPD-69). Davis, CA: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Hydrologic Engineering Center. Retrieved from http://www.hec.usace. army.mil/software/hec-ras/documentation/HEC-RAS_4.1_ Reference_Manual.pdf
- Castro, J. M., & Jackson, P. L. (2002). Bankfull discharge recurrence intervals and regional hydraulic geometry relationships: Patterns in the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Journal of the Americal Water Resources Association*, 37(5), 1249–1262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2001.tb03636.x
- Curtis, K., & Lichvar, R. W. (2010). Updated datasheet for the identification of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM) in the arid west region of the western United States (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TN-10-1). Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http://www.spl.usace.army.mil/Portals/ 17/docs/regulatory/JD/UpdatedDatasheetforIDOHWM_ ERDC_2010.pdf
- Feldman, A. D. (2000). Hydrologic modeling system, HEC-HMS: Technical reference manual (Report No. CPD-74B). Davis, CA: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Hydrologic Engineering Center. Retrieved from http://www.hec.usace. army.mil/software/hec-hms/documentation/HEC-HMS_ Technical Reference Manual_(CPD-74B).pdf
- Fleming, M., & Doan, J. (2009). HEC-GeoHMS geospatial hydrologic modeling extension: User's manual, Version 4.2 (Report No. CPD-77). Davis, CA: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Hydrologic Engineering Center. Retrieved from http://www.hec.usace.army.mil/software/hec-geohms/ documentation/HEC-GeoHMS_Users_Manual_4.2.pdf
- Gesch, D. B. (2007). The national elevation dataset. In D. Maune (Ed.), *Digital elevation model technologies and applications: The DEM users manual* (2nd ed., pp. 99–118). Bethesda, MD: American Society for Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing.
- IDEM. (2008). Waterways permitting handbook. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of Environmental Management. Retrieved from http://www.in.gov/idem/files/wetlands_ waterways_booklet.pdf
- INDOT. (2009). Article 6—Navigable waters. In *Indiana administrative code* (pp. 1–19). Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of Transportation.
- INDOT. (2013). Indiana design manual: Part 2—Hydrology and hydraulics. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of Transportation. Retrieved from http://www.in.gov/indot/ design_manual/files/Part_2_2013.pdf
- Lee, R. W. (2010). Guidance for complying with US Army Corps of Engineers regional conditions for nationwide permits (Report No. EI 10-028). Albany, NY: New York State Department of Transportation. Retrieved from https:// www.dot.ny.gov/portal/pls/portal/mexis_app.pa_ei_eb_ admin_app.show_pdf?id=10539
- Lefebvre, L., Lichvar, R., & Curtis, K. (2013). Survey of OHWM indicator distribution patterns across arid west landscapes (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TR-13-2). Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http://acwc.sdp. sirsi.net/client/search/asset/1017540
- Lichvar, R. W., Finnegan, D. C., Ericsson, M. P., & Ochs, W. (2006). Distribution of ordinary high water mark (OHWM) indicators and their reliability in identifying the limits of "waters of the United States" in arid southwestern channels (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TR-06-5). Hanover, NH: U.S.

Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center.

- Lichvar, R., & McColley, S. (2008). A field guide to the identification of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM) in the arid west region of the western United States: A delineation manual (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TR-08-12). Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http://www.spk. usace.army.mil/Portals/12/documents/regulatory/pdf/ Ordinary_High_Watermark_Manual_Aug_2008.pdf
- Lichvar, R. W., & Wakeley, J. S. (Eds.). (2004). Review of ordinary high water mark indicators for delineating arid streams in the southwestern United States. Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http://www.dtic.mil/ dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a424157.pdf
- Liu, X., Xia, J. (C.), Kuhn, M., Wright, G., & Arnold, L. (2013). Assessment of spatial and temporal variations of high water mark indicators. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 85, 77–89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.09.009
- Mersel, M. K. (2013a). The ordinary high water mark: Concepts, research, and applications. Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center.
- Mersel, M. K. (2013b). A review of ordinary high water mark research in the western U.S. and future studies. Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center.
- Mersel, M. K., Lefebvre, L. E., & Lichvar, R. W. (2014). A review of land and stream classifications in support of developing a national ordinary high water mark (OHWM) classification (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TR-14-12). Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http:// acwc.sdp.sirsi.net/client/search/asset/1036026
- Mersel, M. K., Lichvar, R. W., Gillrich, J. J., & Lefebvre, L. E. (2014). Occurrence and distribution of ordinary high water mark (OHWM) indicators in non-perennial streams in the western mountains, valleys, and coast region of the United States (Report No. ERDC/CRREL TR-14-11). Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center. Retrieved from http://acwc.sdp. sirsi.net/client/search/asset/1036025
- ODOT. (2007). *Bridge Design Manual*. Columbus, OH: Ohio Department of Transportation.
- Olson, P., & Stockdale, E. (2010). Determining the ordinary high water mark on streams in Washington State (Second review draft) (Ecology Publication No. 08-06-001). Lacey, WA: Washington State Department of Ecology. Retrieved from https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/documents/ 0806001.pdf
- Riley, D. T. (2005). Regulatory guidance letter: Ordinary high water mark identification (No. 05-05). Washington, DC: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.
- Robinson, B. A. (2013). Regional bankfull-channel dimensions of non-urban wadeable streams in Indiana (Scientific Investigations Report 2013—5078). Indianapolis, IN: U.S. Geological Survey. Retrieved from http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/ 2013/5078/pdf/sir2013-5078.pdf
- U.S. Congress. (1986). Definition of waters of the United States. 33 CFR Part 328. Retrieved from http://www.nap.usace. army.mil/Portals/39/docs/regulatory/regs/33cfr328.pdf
- USACE. (2001). Final summary report: Guidelines for jurisdictional determinations for waters of the United States in the arid Southwest. San Francisco, CA: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, South Pacific Division.

- USACE. (2012a). Field identification of ordinary high water mark in relationship to the field identification of bankfull stage for the Galveston District's tiered stream condition assessment standard operating procedure. Washington, DC: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Retrieved from http://www.swg.usace.army. mil/Portals/26/docs/regulatory/Streams/BFvOHWM.pdf
- USACE. (2012b). Nationwide permit 3: Maintenance. Washington, DC: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Retrieved from http://www.saw.usace.army.mil/Portals/59/docs/ regulatory/regdocs/NWP2012/NWP3_3-23.pdf
- USACE. (2012c). Nationwide permit 13: Bank stabilization. Washington, DC: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Retrieved from http://www.saw.usace.army.mil/Portals/59/docs/ regulatory/regdocs/NWP2012/NWP13_3-23.pdf
- USACE. (2012d). Nationwide permit 45: Repair of uplands damaged by discrete events. Washington, DC: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Retrieved from http://www.saw.usace. army.mil/Portals/59/docs/regulatory/regdocs/NWP2012/ NWP45_3-23.pdf
- USGS. (2006). Estimated percentage of impervious surface in Indiana in 2006, derived from the 2006 National Land Cover Database (United States Geological Survey, 30-Meter TIFF Image). Retrieved from http://maps.indiana. edu/metadata/Environment/Land_Cover_Impervious_ Surfaces_2006.html
- Wilkerson, J., & Merwade, V. (2010). Determination of unit hydrograph parameters for Indiana watersheds (Joint Transportation Research Program Publication No. FHWA/IN/ JTRP-2010/05). West Lafayette, IN: Purdue University. http://dx.doi.org/10.5703/1288284314266
- Williams, G. P. (1978). Bank-full discharge of rivers. Water Resources Research, 14(6), 1141–1154. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1029/WR014i006p01141
- Young, C. B., McEnroe, B. M., Gamarra, R., Luo, Y., & Lurtz, M. (2014). *Estimating the discharge for ordinary high water levels in Kansas* (Report No. K-TRAN: KU-13-1). Topeka, KS: Kansas Department of Transportation.

About the Joint Transportation Research Program (JTRP)

On March 11, 1937, the Indiana Legislature passed an act which authorized the Indiana State Highway Commission to cooperate with and assist Purdue University in developing the best methods of improving and maintaining the highways of the state and the respective counties thereof. That collaborative effort was called the Joint Highway Research Project (JHRP). In 1997 the collaborative venture was renamed as the Joint Transportation Research Program (JTRP) to reflect the state and national efforts to integrate the management and operation of various transportation modes.

The first studies of JHRP were concerned with Test Road No. 1—evaluation of the weathering characteristics of stabilized materials. After World War II, the JHRP program grew substantially and was regularly producing technical reports. Over 1,500 technical reports are now available, published as part of the JHRP and subsequently JTRP collaborative venture between Purdue University and what is now the Indiana Department of Transportation.

Free online access to all reports is provided through a unique collaboration between JTRP and Purdue Libraries. These are available at: http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/jtrp

Further information about JTRP and its current research program is available at: http://www.purdue.edu/jtrp

About This Report

An open access version of this publication is available online. This can be most easily located using the Digital Object Identifier (doi) listed below. Pre-2011 publications that include color illustrations are available online in color but are printed only in grayscale.

The recommended citation for this publication is:

Saksena, S., & Merwade, V. (2015). *Relating design storm events to ordinary high water marks in Indiana* (Joint Transportation Research Program Publication No. FHWA/IN/JTRP-2015/19). West Lafayette, IN: Purdue University. http://dx.doi.org/10.5703/1288284316004